1980

the State of Utah v. Frank Vlacil : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of the crime of illegal possession of a firearm by an alien in the Seventh Judicial District Court, in and for Carbon County, State of Utah, the Honorable Boyd Bunnell presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After appellant's conviction he was sentenced to an indeterminate term not to exceed five years in the Utah State Prison and was released on bail pending this appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment rendered by the Court and an entry of a judgment of acquittal, or in

the alternative a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of February 22, 1979, the appellant, Frank Vlacil, who is not a citizen of the United States, was arrested by several Price City and Helper City police officers in the parking lot of the Davis Trailer Court. (T. 55, 56) The officers approached appellant's van and asked the occupants, appellant and Libor Hykl, to exit the van. (T. 56,57,59) The occupants exited the van and were then ordered to lie on the ground. (T. 56,57) While they were lying on the ground, Officer Holdaway of the Price City Police Department went to the van and looked inside the driver's window. (T. 54,55,57) Officer Holdaway saw and removed a rifle or a rifle-type weapon from the van. (T. 57) Later that morning, appellant told Deputy Sheriff Semken that he and Libor Hykl had bought the gun from a man in East Carbon and that appellant kept the gun behind the dryer in his trailer. (T. 69,70) Appellant is now charged with not being a citizen of the United States in possession of firearms.

POINT I

SECTION 76-10-503, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953 AS AMENDED, VIOLATES THE UTAH STATE CONSTITUTION AND THE UNITED

STATES CONSTITUTION BECAUSE IT PROHIBITS ALIENS FROM
POSSESSING FIREARMS FOR THEIR DEFENSE AND SECURITY.

Article I Section 6 of the Utah Constitution
reads as follows:

"The people have the right to bear arms
for their security and defense, but the
Legislature may regulate the exercise of
this right by law."

The Second Amendment of the United States
Constitution states:

"A well-regulated militia being necessary
to the security of a free state, the right
of the people to keep and bear arms shall
not be infringed."

In this case appellant, who is not a citizen of
the United States, was convicted of illegal possession of
a firearm pursuant to Section 76-10-503, Utah Code Annotated,
1953 as amended. The language of that section is as follows:

"Any person who is not a citizen of the
United States ... shall not own or have
in his possession or under his custody
or control any dangerous weapon as
defined in this part. Any person who
violates this section is guilty of a Class
A Misdemeanor, and if the dangerous
weapon is a firearm or sawed-off shotgun,
he shall be guilty of a felony of the
third degree."

The validity of this statute as it pertains to
aliens has been questioned only one time before this Court.
The Court upheld the constitutionality of the statute under
Article I Section 6 in State v. Beorchia, 530 P. 2d 813, 814

(1974):

"It is quite evident from the language above set forth that the Legislature had sufficient power to enact the Statute in question."

The Court further held that the statute was not violative of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution because the Statute was directed toward the safeguarding of the public peace and security and thus is a proper exercise of the police powers.

The power of the Utah State Legislature to regulate the "right to bear arms" is not contested here. It is the power of the legislature to absolutely prohibit aliens from possessing firearms for any purpose which is questioned.

The Michigan Supreme Court held a portion of a similar statute void in People v. Zerillo, 219 Mich. 635, 189 N. W. 927 (1922), on the grounds that the legislature "has no power to constitute it a crime for a person, alien or citizen, to possess a revolver for the legitimate defense of himself and his property." Zerillo, 189 N. W. at 928.

The statute before the Michigan court prohibited an alien to hunt for or capture or kill any wild bird or animals, except in defense of his person or property, "and to that end" such a person could not own or possess firearms of any kind. It also provided that upon a showing

of necessity and the recommendation of two citizens, the sheriff of the county may issue a permit to an unnaturalized foreign-born resident to possess firearms. The Court found this second provision void because it was not a regulation, but rather a prohibition and a confiscation making it a crime for an alien to possess a revolver unless permitted to do so by the sheriff of the county where he resides. The Court held that the legislature had no power to prohibit possession of a firearm for the legitimate defense of self and property, where the constitution gives every person a right to bear arms for self defense, and gives aliens who are bona fide state residents the same rights as citizens in respect to the possession, enjoyment and inheritance of property. Recognizing the power of the legislature to regulate the carrying and use of firearms, the Court found the first portion of the statute to be a proper regulation, limiting an alien's right to use firearms in hunting or capturing or killing any wild birds or animals only when used in defense of person or property.

The Michigan Court stressed that the constitutional provision granting "every person ... a right to bear arms for the defense of himself and the state" "is a limitation upon the power of the legislature to enact any law to the contrary." Zerillo at .

The provisions granting the people the right to bear arms are essentially the same in both the Michigan and Utah State Constitutions. Both Section 76-10-503, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, as it pertains to aliens, and the Michigan statute have the similar effect of prohibiting the possession of firearms for any purpose by aliens. For these reasons this court should follow the sound logic and reasoning of the Michigan Supreme Court and in the present case, declare Section 76-10-503 an abuse of legislative power and therefore invalid.

The decision in State v. Beorchia, 530 P. 2d 813 (1974), rested upon two cases, Ex parte Ramirez, 226 P. 914 (1924), and Patsone v. Pennsylvania, 232 U. S. 138 (1914). Unlike Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Section 76-10-503, the statutes upheld in these cases did not absolutely prohibit the possession of firearms by aliens. In Ramirez, the California statute prohibited aliens from owning or possessing only firearms of a size capable of being concealed on the person. "This would permit aliens to have shotguns, rifles, or other large weapons for all lawful purposes." Ramirez, 226 P. at 919. The Pennsylvania statute in Patsone was a game law prohibiting aliens from killing any wild bird or animal except in defense of person or property, and "to that end" made it unlawful for aliens

to own or possess a shotgun or rifle. The prohibition did not extend to such firearms as pistols which may be needed for self defense. Patsone, 232 U. S. at 543. Contrary to the California and Pennsylvania statutes, the Utah statute acts to absolutely disarm aliens for all lawful purposes. The basis for the decision in Beorchia is not sound.

POINT II

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 76-10-503 (1953 AS AMENDED) IS AN IMPROPER EXERCISE OF THE STATE'S POLICE POWER BECAUSE IT ENCHROACHES UPON THE FIELD OF IMMIGRATION AND NATURALIZATION OVER WHICH THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT HAS EXCLUSIVE CONTROL AND IS THEREFORE INVALID.

The Court's reasoning in State v. Beorchia, 530 P. 2d 813, 815 (1974) upholding Utah Code Annotated Section 76-10-503 (1953 as amended) as "a proper exercise of the police power" cannot stand. To contend that such regulation of aliens falls within state police power ignores the uniquely federal character of the alien. Because of its impact on foreign relations, alien regulation is an exception to the rule that the intention of Congress to exclude states from exerting their police power ordinarily must be clearly manifested. Allen-Bradley Local IIII v. Wisconsin, 315 U. S. 740, 749 (1942). Whenever a state

statute invades the legislative domain belonging exclusively to Congress, the statute is void, no matter how closely linked it may be to powers conceded to belong to the states. Henderson v. Mayor of New York, 92 U. S. 259, 272 (1876). The provisions of the Utah statute which regulate the activities of aliens encroaches upon a field reserved to federal action, and is therefore void.

The Supreme Court struck down a state statute which required the registration of aliens on the grounds of federal pre-emption of the field:

"The power to restrict, limit, regulate and register aliens as a distinct group is not an equal and continuously existing concurrent power of state and nation, but that whatever power a state may have is subordinate to supreme national law."
Hines v. Davidowitz, 312 U. S. 52, 68 (1940)

Control over immigration and naturalization is entrusted exclusively to the Federal government and a state has no power to interfere. United States Constitution, Article I, Section 8, Cl. 4; Truax v. Raich, 239 U. S. 33, 42 (1915) (state anti-alien labor law held void); Takahasi v. Fish and Game Commission, 334 U. S. 410 (1948) (state statute prohibiting issuance of commercial fishing license to aliens not eligible for citizenship held void); Graham v. Richardson, 403 U. S. 365, 376-80 (1971) (state statute that denied welfare benefits to resident aliens, or to aliens not

meeting a requirement of durational residence within the United States held void); Examining Board v. Flores de Otero, 426 U. S. 572, 602 (1975) (Puerto Rican statute restricting licenses for civil engineers to United States citizens held void); Mathews v. Diaz, 426 U. S. 67, 84, 85 (1976); Nyquist v. Mauclet, 432 U. S. 1, 12 (1977) (state statute barring certain resident aliens from financial assistance for higher education held void).

"Under the Constitution the states are granted no such powers; they can neither add to nor take from the conditions lawfully imposed by Congress upon admission, naturalization and residence of aliens in the United States or the several states." Takahashi v. Fish and Game Commission, 334 U. S. at 419.

In Takahashi, 334 U. S. at 419-20, the Supreme Court held that California had no power to place further burdens upon a segment of its lawful legal inhabitants by banning them from following a vocation simply because Congress had declared such group ineligible for citizenship. Congress' power over immigration and naturalization is broad but the power of a state to apply its laws exclusively to its alien inhabitants as a class is confined within narrow limits.

Congress has regulated the possession of firearms by aliens. The statute prohibits only aliens who are illegally in the United States from possessing firearms.

Title 18 Appendix U.A.C. §§ 1201 to 1203. Section 1202 reads in pertinent part as follows:

"(a) any person who--

(5) being an alien illegally or unlawfully in the United States, and who receives, possesses, or transports in commerce or affecting commerce, after the date of enactment of this Act, any firearm shall be fined not more than \$10,000.00 or imprisoned for not more than two years, or both.

By enacting Utah Code Annotated Section 76-10-503, (1953 as amended), as it pertains to aliens, the State has overstepped the bounds of its power. The statute impermissibly "adds to" the conditions imposed by the federal regulation by prohibiting all aliens within its borders, whether illegally present in the United States or not, from possessing firearms. The federal statute is the supreme law of the land, and the law of Utah must yield to it. So much of Utah Code Annotated Section 76-10-503 which conflicts with that federal regulation must be held invalid.

Congress has not seen fit to impose any such burden or restriction on aliens who are legally in this country. Rather, it has broadly declared:

"All persons within the jurisdiction of the United States shall have the same right in every state and territory... to the full and equal benefit of all laws and proceedings for the security of persons and property as is enjoyed by white citizens..." Title 42 U.S.C. §1981.

The protection of this statute extends to aliens as well as citizens. Takahaski v. Fish and Game Commission, 334 U. S. 410, 419 n.7.

The Utah statute conflicts with these overriding national policies in an area entrusted to the federal government. It effectitvely disarms all aliens and restricts their rights to defend by firearms their persons and property. For this additional reason, the statute must be struck down.

CONCLUSION

Appellant's conviction under Utah Code Annotated Section 76-10-503, should be reversed on the grounds that the statute effectively disarms aliens for the defense of property and self and is thereby unconstitutional under Article I Section 6 of the Utah Constitution and the Second Amendment of the United States Constitution. Furthermore, insofar as the statute attempts to regulate the activities of aliens, it is void because the federal government has pre-empted that field of regulation.

Respectively submitted,

D. GILBERT ATHAY