1981

The State of Utah v. Frank Vlacil : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant was convicted of violating Utah Code Annotated § 76-10-503 which prohibits the possession of a dangerous weapon by a person who is not a citizen of the United States. At the time of the incident forming the basis of this case, the appellant was a Czechoslovakian native found to have been in possession of a firearm.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant was charged by information with the commission of a third degree felony under U.C.A. § 76-10-503. The appellant was convicted of violating the provisions of this statute in a jury trial, the Honorable Boyd Bunnell of

the Seventh Judicial District in and for Carbon County, presiding. Upon conviction, the appellant was sentenced to serve a term of confinement in the Utah State Prison, not to exceed five years.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondent seeks an order and judgment upholding the constitutionality of Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 and affirming the conviction in the lower court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of February 21, 1979, James Cruz, intent on an evening of drinking, and socializing, took a taxi cab to the Eagle's Club in Price, Utah (T.14). As Cruz and a group of friends arrived at the club, they noticed another friend, the appellant, had already arrived (T.15). Shortly thereafter, the appellant and Cruz engaged in a heated discussion about the attendance and membership policy of the club which refuses non-members entrance after the third visit unless a commitment to join is made (T.15). The appellant had visited the club on three occasions prior to the evening of February 21, and was thus ineligible to enter without membership (T.15). The argument evolved into a fight between the two men which ended when the appellant was forcibly ejected from the club (T.16). At approximately 12:30 a.m., Cruz and the group left the club and proceeded to

a bar owned jointly by Cruz and Ann Archibald (T.15,16). Shortly after arriving at this bar, a bullet was fired from the outside, through a window of the bar (T.19,20). Patrons at the bar looked outside and saw the appellant holding a gun (T.20). Cruz went outside in an attempt to calm the appellant (T.20,25). As Cruz approached, the appellant commanded him to stay away or he would kill him (Cruz) (T.28). After the appellant jammed the gun several times into Cruz's face (T.25), Cruz began to back away from the appellant (T.25). Cruz had backed approximately fifteen feet from the appellant when he shot Cruz through the shoulder (T.25). Later, at approximately 2:00 a.m., the appellant was arrested as he was sitting in his van (T.56,57). As police officers looked through the driver's side window of the van, the gun used in the previous shooting was discovered and seized (T.57).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

STATE AND NATIONAL CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS CONCERNING THE RIGHT TO BEAR ARMS, GUARANTEE COLLECTIVE RATHER THAN INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS ALLOWING LEGISLATURES TO REGULATE THE POSSESSION OF ARMS PURSUANT TO TRADITIONAL STATE POLICE POWERS.

Utah Code Annotated § 76-10-503 states in pertinent part that:

(1) Any person who is not a citizen of the

United States, or any person who has been convicted of any crime of violence under the laws of the United States, the State of Utah, or any other state, government, or country, or who is addicted to the use of any narcotic drug, or any person who has been declared mentally incompetent shall not own or have in his possession or under his custody or control any dangerous weapon as defined in this part. Any person who violates this section is guilty of a class A misdemeanor, and if the dangerous weapon is a firearm or sawed-off shotgun, he shall be guilty of a felony of the third degree.

The appellant, who was convicted of possession of a firearm by a person who is not a citizen of the United States, alleges that the above code section is violative of provisions of the state and national constitutions. The Second Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "A well-regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." Correspondingly, Article I Section 6 of the Utah Constitution states: "The people have the right to bear arms for their security and defense, but the Legislature may regulate the exercise of this right by law." In the case of United States v. Miller, 307 U.S. 174 (1938), the United States Supreme Court addressed fears similar to those expressed by the appellant in the case at bar. That case concerned the National Firearms Act under which the appellant

was convicted for transporting a sawed-off shotgun in interstate commerce. The Court examined the historical foundation of the Second Amendment and stated:

The Constitution as originally adopted granted to the Congress power—"To provide for calling forth the Militia to execute the Laws of the Union . . .; To provide for organizing, arming, and disciplining, the Militia, and for governing such part of them as may be employed in the Service of the United States, reserving to the States respectively, the Appointment of the Officers, and the Authority of training the Militia according to the discipline prescribed by Congress." With obvious purpose to assure the continuation and render possible the effectiveness of such forces the declaration and guarantee of the Second Amendment were made. It must be interpreted and applied with that end in view.

307 U.S. at 178. In short, the Second Amendment right to keep and bear arms refers directly to the states' right to maintain a militia, but not to the right of an individual to possess a firearm. Such was the holding of the court in Stevens v. United States, 440 F.2d 144 (6th Cir. 1971):

Since the Second Amendment right "to keep and bear Arms" applies only to the right of the State to maintain a militia and not to the individual's right to bear arms, there can be no serious claim to any express constitutional right of an individual to possess a firearm.

At 149. Accordingly, the courts have come to a general consensus that the Second Amendment guarantees a collective rather than an individual right. United States v. Warin,

530 F.2d 103, 106 (6th Cir. 1976), cert. den. 426 U.S. 948.

Likewise, state courts when dealing with claims of unconstitutional gun control statutes, apply the Second Amendment in a manner similar to federal courts. In Harris v. State, 432 P.2d 929 (Nev. 1967), the court stated, referring to the Second Amendment's application to the Nevada gun control law: "That the amendment applies only to the Federal Government and does not restrict state action . . . The right to bear arms does not apply to private citizens as an individual right." At 930. Similarly, the court in Commonwealth v. Davis, 343 N.E.2d 847, 850 (Mass. 1976) again, referring to the Second Amendment stated:

The chances appear remote that this amendment will ultimately be read to control the States, for unlike some other provisions of the bill of rights, this is not directed to guaranteeing the rights of individuals, but rather, as we have said, to assuring some freedom of the State forces from national interference.

The underlying basis for holding that the Second Amendment allows restrictions to be placed on the possession of firearms by individuals, can be traced to the Tenth Amendment to the United States Constitution: "The powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution, nor prohibited by it to the States, are reserved to the States respectively, or to the people." Under this amendment, the

states have the power to enact laws appropriate for protecting the health and welfare of the people. This general police power allows the state to legislate in the field of gun control. In People v. Garcia, 595 P.2d 228, 230 (Colo. 1979), the Colorado Supreme Court stated, "The right to bear arms is not absolute, and it can be restricted by the state's valid exercise of its police power." Similarly, the Nevada Supreme Court in Hardison v. State, 437 P.2d 868, 871 (Nev. 1968) noted, "[T]he Second Amendment right is not absolute. The provision only applies to the federal government, and absent federal or state constitutional restraints the authority to regulate weapons comes from a state's police powers. This is a valid subject for state regulation."

A similar holding is appropriate in the present case. Pursuant to Article I Section 6 of the Utah Constitution, "The people have the right to bear arms for their security and defense, but the Legislature may regulate the exercise of this right by law." The Utah Code section 76-10-503 is simply a manifestation of the Legislature exercising its right, pursuant to the state constitution, to regulate the people's right to bear arms. There is no question that the Legislature had the power and right to enact Utah Code Ann. 76-10-503. State v. Beorchia, 530 P.2d 813, 814

(Utah 1974). In addressing a Fourteenth Amendment equal protection attack on the statute involved here, this Court stated: "The sale, use and possession of firearms are proper subjects of regulation by the State. The Fourteenth Amendment is not generally applied so as to restrict the exercise of police powers by the state."

This Court concluded its analysis of the issues by holding:

The statute under consideration was directed toward the safeguarding of the public peace and security and is thus a proper exercise of the police powers. It appears that the legislature determined that the possession of firearms by aliens was harmful, and we do not quarrel with the decision of that body.

At 815. Thus, not only is the disputed statute a constitutional exercise of the state's police powers, but where such powers of regulation are expressly granted to the legislature by the state constitution, this Court has given great deference to the decision of that body. Therefore, the Court's decision in the case at bar should support and follow the precedent of State v. Beorchia, supra.

The appellant distinguishes the present statute from similarly drawn statutes on the premise that the instant statute "prohibits" rather than "regulates" the possession of firearms. Such a distinction is, however, invalid when contrasted against the nature of provisions guaranteeing the

right to bear arms. These provisions, as previously stated, confer a collective right only; no individual rights are involved. Therefore, only a statute which makes a collective prohibition may be characterized as absolutely prohibiting possession of firearms. Were this not so, a statute prohibiting the possession of firearms by persons convicted of felonies (also a class of individuals), would contain the same potential constitutional infirmity advocated by the appellant in the present case. However, statutes prohibiting the possession of firearms by felons have been unanimously upheld as a valid exercise of state police powers. Since the present statute does not collectively prohibit the possession of firearms by the people of this state, the appellant's attack must be rejected.

The appellant assails the instant statute on the ground that cases cited by this Court in Beorchia dealt with statutes promulgating qualified prohibitions, i.e., aliens are prohibited from possessing firearms except in situations of individual self-defense. It should be noted that this Court did not rely upon Ex Parte Rameriz, 226 P. 914 (Cal. 1924) and Patson v. Pennsylvania, 232 U.S. 138 (1915), for the entire rationale of the Beorchia opinion; rather these two cases are cited to support the

proposition that a statute such as Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 which is directed toward the safeguarding of the public peace and security, is the proper exercise of the police powers. 530 P.2d at 815. Since the above cases were noted for the general proposition that statutes addressed to safeguarding the public peace and security are a valid exercise of police powers to which Fourteenth Amendment restrictions are generally not applied, the superficial legal distinction mentioned by appellant is not sufficient to compel a result contrary to Beorchia.

In the event that a self-defense distinction were valid in the present case, the appellant still could not prevail since self-defense was not involved here. In other words, Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 is not unconstitutional as applied to the appellant since the incident which precipitated the arrest, the shooting of Cruz, was not an act of self-defense. Although, after the first shot through the window of the bar, Cruz left the bar and approached the appellant to calm him down, the appellant shot Cruz as Cruz was backing away from the appellant (T. 25,30,48). Therefore, even if the possession of a firearm by an alien should be allowed under the Utah Code for purposes of self-defense, the statute was constitutionally applied to the appellant. He has no standing to assert a cause based on the prosecution of an alien under Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 who may have

peacefully or justifiably used or possessed a firearm.

POINT II

STATE LAWS WHICH AFFECT ALIENS BY REGULATING THEIR USE AND POSSESSION OF FIREARMS, ARE NOT PREEMPTED BY THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION SINCE SUCH REGULATIONS DO NOT IMPINGE ON IMMIGRATION AND NATURALIZATION.

The appellant asserts that since Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 affects or in some way regulates the activities of resident aliens, it is preempted under the Supremacy Clause of Article VI, Clause 2 of the United States Constitution. The assertion continues that Congress has preempted the entire field of alien regulation, making any state regulations invalid. Appellant's reasoning is unsupported by case law or logic. Appellant recognizes that it is only in the field of immigration and naturalization that federal law dominates, but fails to demonstrate any nexus between immigration and naturalization and the type of regulation involved here. Simply stated, the prohibition against the possession of firearms by aliens has nothing to do with, nor does it affirmatively or negatively impinge upon the federal regulations concerning the immigration, naturalization, or registration of aliens. An examination of the law in this area reveals several standards used by the courts to determine whether state regulations are preempted by federal legislation. In Florida Avocado Growers v. Paul, 373 U.S. 132 (1962), the Court enumerated these standards:

(1) a state regulation is preempted where an unambiguous congressional mandate exists to that effect; (2) preemption exists where the state regulation cannot be enforced without impairing federal superintendence of the field; and (3) preemption of the state regulation exists where it stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes of Congress. Under any of these standards, Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 is a proper exercise of this state's police powers and is not preempted by federal legislation.

No unambiguous congressional mandate exists to preclude a state from regulating the possession of firearms by aliens; certainly the appellant has made no such showing. The appellant refers to 18 U.S.C.App. § 1201-1203 (which is attached at the end of respondent's brief) in an attempt to make the requisite showing of an unambiguous congressional mandate. However, the language contained in these sections does not satisfy the "clearly unambiguous" standard directed at the states. (i.e., in Rice v. Santa Fe Elevator Corp., 331 U.S. 218 (1946), the Court held that an examination of the legislative history of Section 29 of the United States Warehouse Act, 7 U.S.C. § 241, et seq., combined with language stating: "[T]he power, jurisdiction, and authority conferred upon the Secretary of Agriculture under this Act shall be exclusive. . ." was sufficiently unambiguous to meet the Court's preemption

federal statute was not directed at the ownership of firearms, but at the possession of firearms. 114 Cong. Rec. 14, 773-75 (1968). The Utah statute addresses the issue of ownership as well as possession. Moreover, the provisions were viewed in general as, "[N]ecessary to a coordinated attack on crime and also a good compliment to the gun-control legislation contained in title IV of this bill." 114 Cong. Rec. 16,286 (1968). In sum, Congress has not provided the mandate necessary to restrict regulation, but rather has provided a regulatory basis for gun control in general which compliments existing state regulation.

The appellant similarly fails to show that enforcement of Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 impairs the enforcement of federal gun control laws or any immigration and naturalization requirements. Concerning this test, the Court in Florida Avocado Growers stated: "The test of whether both federal and state regulations may operate, or the state regulation must give way, is whether both regulations can be enforced without impairing the federal superintendence of the field, not whether they are aimed at similar or different objectives." 373 U.S. at 142. This authority is directly contrary to the appellant's unsupported assertion that, because 18 U.S.C. App. § 1201 contains restrictions on the possession of firearms, state regulation

in the same area must give way. Since enforcement of Section 76-10-503 in no way impairs federal immigration and naturalization regulations, or federal gun control laws, the Utah state cannot be deemed to have been preempted.

Likewise, the Utah statute does not stand as an obstacle to the purposes of Congress in the area of immigration and naturalization. In the case at bar, there is no reason to believe that immigration will be discouraged or hindered by Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503. There is no state registration requirement as in Hines v. Davidowitz, 312 U.S. 52 (1941), there is no burden on the employment of aliens as in Takahashi v. Fish and Game Commission, 334 U.S. 410 (1948), nor is there any other obstacle to the federal purpose of promoting immigration and naturalization. Consequently, under any of the standards presently utilized to examine preemption, the propriety of Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 must be upheld. This conclusion is consistent with the result in the case of DeCanas v. Bica, 424 U.S. 351 (1976). There the Court upheld the constitutionality of a state statute which prohibited an employer from knowingly employing an alien who is not entitled to lawful residence in the United States

if such employment would have an adverse effect on lawful resident workers. In response to the argument that the state statute was preempted by the Immigration and Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C. § 1101, et seq., the Court stated: "But the Court has never held that every state enactment which in any way deals with aliens is a regulation of immigration and thus per se preempted by this constitutional power, whether latent or exercised." 424 U.S. at 355. The Court continued by stating that, "[S]tanding alone, the fact that aliens are the subject of a state statute does not render it a regulation of immigration, which is essentially a determination of who should or should not be admitted to the country, and the conditions under which a legal entrant may remain." Id. at 355. The Colorado Supreme Court found this language equally applicable to a statute which prohibited resident aliens from voting in school board elections. In Skaft v. Rorex, 553 P.2d 830, 834 (Colo. 1976), the court noted that voter qualification was a primary example of an area which the states have historically occupied. Finding no conflict between the state statute and the Immigration and Nationality Act, and no congressional intent to remove power from the states in this area, the court concluded that only a demonstration that a complete ouster of state power was

the clear and manifest purpose of Congress, would require a conclusion of preemption. 533 P.2d at 834. Correspondingly, in the area of the exercise of state police power, the appellant has made no demonstration of congressional intent to completely eliminate the power of the state to regulate the ownership and possession of firearms by aliens. Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 has not been preempted and its application in this case should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The appellant's conviction under Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-503 was proper and should be affirmed. The appellant has failed to overcome the authority of this Court's decision in State v. Beorchia, as well as the authority of other courts which have upheld similar state laws prohibiting the possession or ownership of deadly weapons by aliens. See People v. Cannizzaro, 31 P.2d 1066 (Cal. Ct. App. 1934); People v. Cordero, 122 P.2d 648 (Cal. Ct. App. 1942); and People v. Mendoza, 60 Cal.Rptr. 5 (Cal. Ct. App. 1967) (all construing a California law which was eventually repealed by the California legislature).

The Second Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I Section 6 of the Utah Constitution confer only collective rights of firearm ownership and possession relating to the state's power to maintain a militia. Arguments that these provisions support the appellant's individual right of possession

and ownership have been overwhelmingly rejected by the courts.

Furthermore since the appellant has failed to show congressional intent to eliminate state regulatory powers in the area of gun control through the Immigration and Nationality Act, the state statute here involved is not preempted under the Supremacy Clause of the Constitution.